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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

JILANNE D. BARTO, an individual, 
Plaintiff, 

v. 

DAVID MIYASHIRO, in his official 
capacity as Superintendent Cajon Valley 
Union School District; JAMES MILLER, 
JO ALEGRIA, TAMARA OTERO, and 
KAREN CLARK-MEJIA, each in their 
official capacity as Trustee of Cajon Valley 
Union School District Board of Trustees; 
and DOES 1 to 50, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

 Case No.:  19-cv-2261-WQH-KSC 
 
ORDER 

HAYES, Judge: 

 The matters before the Court are the Motions for Summary Judgment filed by 

Defendants David Miyashiro, James Miller, Jo Alegria, Tamara Otero, and Karen Clark-

Mejia. (ECF Nos. 36-40). 

I. BACKGROUND 

On November 26, 2019, Plaintiff Jilanne D. Barto, a Trustee of Cajon Valley Union 

School District (“CVUSD”), filed a Complaint against Defendants David Miyashiro in his 

official capacity as Superintendent of CVUSD; James Miller, Jo Alegria, Tamara Otero, 
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and Karen Clark-Mejia, each in their official capacity as Trustee of CVUSD; and Does 1-

50. (ECF No. 1). Plaintiff alleges that Defendants retaliated against Plaintiff for exercising 

her First Amendment rights to “sp[eak] unfavorably about Defendants’ actions” and 

“question[] [] the way in which Defendants spend District funds.” (Id. ¶¶ 27, 29). Plaintiff 

alleges that “Defendants took action to chill or silence Plaintiff,” including 

t[aking] away Plaintiff’s ability to speak to District employees, to be present 
at Board meetings, [and] to participate in conferences and events other 
Trustees participate in[;] . . . cancel[ing] her [expense] Card[;] [] prevent[ing] 
her from providing meaningful input to the Board on behalf of her 
constituents[;] . . . requir[ing] Plaintiff to obtain approval from the Board 
before she makes site visits or speaks with the public[;] [] bann[ing] Plaintiff 
from being on District property and only allow[ing] her to participate in Board 
meetings via conference calls[;] [and] remov[ing] Plaintiff from the agenda-
setting rotation – a rotation in which every Trustee is to be included.   

 
(Id. ¶¶ 56, 59).  

Plaintiff brings claims against Defendants under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violation of 

the First Amendment and retaliation. Plaintiff seeks  

a permanent injunction restraining Defendants from prohibiting Plaintiff from 
speaking to her constituents; from participating in Board Meetings, both open 
and closed session, from participating in School District events; from using 
her [expense] Card; from visiting District schools; from attending relevant 
conferences; from obtaining information requested to do her job; and to 
mandate that Plaintiff be notified of Board members events and issues to the 
same extent as other Board members. 
 

(Id. at 12). Plaintiff further seeks a declaratory judgment and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

On April 20, 2020, Defendants filed Answers to the Complaint. (ECF Nos. 17-21). 

The parties engaged in fact discovery. 

On April 5, 2021, Defendants each filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (ECF 

Nos. 36-40). On June 7, 2021, Plaintiff filed an Omnibus Opposition to the Motions for 

Summary Judgment. (ECF No. 44). On June 18, 2021, Defendants filed an Omnibus Reply. 

(ECF No. 46). On August 12, 2021, the Court heard oral argument on the Motions for 

Summary Judgment. (ECF No. 48). 
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II. CONTENTIONS 

Defendants contend that they are immune from suit pursuant to the Eleventh 

Amendment of the United States Constitution as school officials sued in their official 

capacities. Defendants contend that the Ex Parte Young exception to Eleventh Amendment 

immunity does not apply, because the “the evidence establishes no ongoing violation of 

federal law[] and no proper basis for relief characterized as prospective.” (ECF No. 36-1 

at 7).1 Defendants contend that Plaintiff fails to establish an ongoing violation of federal 

law under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, because “[t]here is no evidence to support that a CVUSD 

policy was a moving force that caused [Plaintiff’s] alleged deprivation of First Amendment 

rights.” (Id. at 12). Defendants further contend that the doctrines of legislative immunity 

and separation of powers preclude Plaintiff from bringing claims against Defendants for 

their actions taken as local legislators.  

Plaintiff contends that the Ex Parte Young exception to Eleventh Amendment 

immunity applies, because Plaintiff “is properly seeking prospective relief for ongoing 

federal violations.” (ECF No. 44 at 29). Plaintiff contends that she “has been subjected to 

an organized campaign of harassment in retaliation for her public exposure of financial 

irregularities by Defendants.” (Id. at 33). Plaintiff contends that all Defendants “have final 

policymaking authority over the actions alleged” sufficient to establish an ongoing 

violation of federal law under § 1983. (Id. at 35). Plaintiff contends that the doctrines of 

legislative immunity and separation of powers do not preclude Plaintiff’s claims, because 

Defendants’ “retaliatory and unconstitutional actions [do not] fall[] within the sphere of 

legitimate legislative activity.” (Id. at 37). 

/// 

/// 

/// 

 

1 The Court cites to the Motion for Summary Judgment, Statement of Undisputed Material Facts, and 
Exhibits filed by Defendant Miyashiro when referring to assertions made by all Defendants. 
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III. FACTS2 

Plaintiff Jilanne D. Barto has served as a Trustee of CVUSD for over twenty-five 

years. The Board of Trustees consists of five elected members: Plaintiff Barto, Defendant 

Tamara Otero, Defendant James Miller, Defendant Jo Alegria, and Defendant Karen Clark-

Mejia. Defendant Otero has served as the Board President since 2018. Defendant David 

Miyashiro is the Superintendent of CVUSD. The Superintendent is hired by the Board and 

is not a member of the Board. On many occasions, the Board has unanimously approved 

fiscal expenditures. On some occasions beginning in 2018, Plaintiff questioned, opposed, 

and voted against certain fiscal expenditures.  

At a Board meeting on December 11, 2018, Plaintiff requested a “second reading” 

of a proposed policy to increase the discretion of Defendant Miyashiro to make 

expenditures for items such as “employee t-shirts or jackets and staff appreciation events.” 

(ECF No. 44-2 at 455, 457). Plaintiff was the sole Trustee to vote against the policy. 

In January 2019, Plaintiff had an unpaid balance of $45.80 on her CVUSD expense 

card, or “Cal Card.” (ECF No. 44-9 ¶ 52).3 Plaintiff states in a Declaration that the overage 

 

2 The parties filed evidentiary objections. (ECF Nos. 44-6, 45-1). The objections to evidentiary materials 
not relied upon in this Order are denied as moot. The objections to evidentiary materials relied upon in 
this Order are overruled. There is no indication that the evidence relied upon in this Order could not be 
presented in an admissible form at trial. See Fonseca v. Sysco Food Servs. of Ariz., Inc., 374 F.3d 840, 
846 (9th Cir. 2004) (evidence is “admissible for summary judgment purposes [if it] ‘could be presented 
in an admissible form at trial.’” (quoting Fraser v. Goodale, 342 F.3d 1032, 1037 (9th Cir. 2003)). Further, 
“if evidence submitted on summary judgment could create a genuine dispute of material fact, it is, by 
definition, ‘of consequence in determining the action,’ and therefore relevant. Conversely, if the submitted 
evidence does not create a genuine dispute of material fact, there is no need for the court to separately 
determine whether it is relevant because, even assuming it is not, it will not affect the ultimate summary 
judgment ruling.” Sandoval v. County of San Diego, 985 F.3d 657, 665 (9th Cir. 2021) (quoting Fed. R. 
Evid. 401)). 
 
3 Defendants object to Plaintiff’s Statement of Undisputed Material Facts (ECF No. 44-9) on the grounds 
that “Plaintiff filing their own separate statement is not authorized or provided for in the chamber’s rules, 
local rules, or Rule 56.” (ECF No. 45-2 at 2). Defendants’ objection is overruled. See Anderson v. Liberty 
Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986) (the party opposing summary judgment must “set forth specific 
facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial”). Defendants did not file any response to Plaintiff’s 
Statement of Undisputed Material Facts. The Court relies on assertions that have evidentiary support. 
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was due to her having to pay for her own meals that exceeded the per diem at a conference, 

while Defendant Miyashiro paid for the meals of the other Trustees. Defendant Miyashiro 

“placed the issue of Trustee Barto’s failure to make payment on the open session agenda 

for January of 2019.” (ECF No. 36-2 ¶ 6).4 On January 12, 2019, Defendant Miyashiro 

responded to an email from his Executive Coordinator about Plaintiff’s receipts from the 

conference, stating, “We’re going to embarrass the hell out of [Plaintiff] on Tuesday. Can 

you please have for the board the history of emails that she failed to respond to printed out 

. . .?” (ECF No. 36-4 at 29). The minutes from the Board meeting on January 15, 2019, 

stated: 

The Governing Board discussed use of CAL Cards and proper submission of 
supplemental documents . . . . Trustee Barto is over two month[s] late in 
providing receipts to staff from the CSBA Conference to process payment in 
a timely manner. . . . The Governing Board discussed outstanding expenses 
by Board Member Jill Barto from April 2018 and her reimbursement 
obligations after many attempts from staff to collect. The Governing Board 
agreed that a Board Member has legal obligations to reimburse for personal 
expenses and or expenses of per diem within a reasonable time. Trustee Barto 
shared that she will provide payment to the District. 

 
(ECF No. 44-2 at 462). Defendant Miyashiro states in a Declaration that he “told Ms. Barto 

that she could not use her Cal Card until she had properly accounted for her past expenses.” 

(ECF No. 36-8 ¶ 37).  

The minutes from the Board meeting on January 15, 2019, further stated: 

The Governing Board discussed and reviewed Board Member protocols for 
requesting items from staff per the Governance Handbook. Trustee Barto has 
been making excessive non Board Meeting agenda related requests of staff. 
Some requests are asking staff to go back five or more years. The Board 
agreed to make requests from staff only if two or more Board Members agree 
the information is needed as to not have staff work on time consuming projects 
that are not related to Board Meeting items. 

 

4 Plaintiff objects to Defendants’ Statement of Undisputed Material Facts (ECF No. 36-2) on the grounds 
that it “includes argument and legal narratives that are . . . improper in a separate statement of purported 
‘fact.’” (ECF No. 44-6). The Court relies on assertions of fact that have evidentiary support. 
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(ECF No. 44-2 at 462). Plaintiff testified at her deposition that the staff request protocol is 

a “Board policy” that applies to all Trustees. (ECF No. 36-4 at 97:3-5). Plaintiff testified 

that there have “only [been] one or two times” where another Trustee has approved 

Plaintiff’s staff requests. (Id. at 96:24-25). 

 At a Board meeting on February 12, 2019, Plaintiff was the sole Trustee to vote 

against approving travel and conference expenditures. 

In February 2019, the Executive Coordinator made an oral complaint to Defendant 

Miyashiro, alleging that Plaintiff harassed and retaliated against her. Defendant Miyashiro 

“brought [the] complaint to the Trustees, and . . . an investigation was opened. An ad hoc 

committee consisting of two Board members ([Defendant] Otero and [Defendant] Clark-

Mejia) were assigned to investigate [the] complaint” with the assistance of legal counsel. 

(ECF No. 36-2 ¶ 9). The investigation took several months, and “two other employees 

came forward alleging harassment and retaliation by Trustee Barto.” (Id. ¶ 10). Plaintiff 

was excluded from attending the closed session meetings of the ad hoc committee. The ad 

hoc committee interviewed witnesses who were not placed under oath and whose 

statements were not recorded. Plaintiff requested and was denied legal counsel at CVUSD 

expense. The ad hoc committee did not interview Plaintiff. The ad hoc committee’s 

Confidential Investigation Report stated that the committee “made several attempts to 

schedule an interview with [Plaintiff],” but Plaintiff “refused to meet with the Ad Hoc 

Committee.” (ECF No. 36-4 at 42).  

 At a Board meeting on March 12, 2019, Plaintiff was the sole Trustee to vote against 

approving expenditures for consultant agreements, including an agreement to increase the 

spending for Board legal services by up to $15,000. At a Board meeting on March 26, 

2019, Plaintiff questioned whether there was a conflict of interest regarding an agenda item 

to approve a construction contract with a company owned by Defendant Otero’s son. 

Plaintiff “voted for the awarding of the contract to Otero Construction.” (ECF No. 36-2 ¶ 

17 (emphasis omitted)). At Board meetings on May 14, 2019, May 28, 2019, June 11, 2019, 

and August 27, 2019, Plaintiff was the sole Trustee to vote against approving expenditures 
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for consultant agreements, videography services, and a $291,354 employment agreement 

for Defendant Miyashiro. 

 The ad hoc committee concluded its investigation around August 2019. At 

Defendant Miller’s request, “the Board provided [Defendant Miller] the opportunity to 

approach Trustee Barto with a resignation.” (See, e.g., ECF No. 36-14 ¶ 14). Defendant 

Miller met with Plaintiff after the conclusion of the investigation and before an official 

report was written. Defendant Miller testified at his deposition that he told Plaintiff: 

[I]n the event that [Plaintiff] made a decision that she was willing to possibly 
resign from the board, [] the report would be unnecessary and if the report was 
unnecessary it doesn’t get written, if it’s not written it doesn’t go into any sort 
of public or personal file, can’t go into anything that would ever damage her 
legacy at the district after 20 plus years [] serving the community. 

 
(ECF No. 44-2 at 70:2-9). Plaintiff did not resign. The ad hoc committee’s Confidential 

Investigation Report concluded that “the conduct of Board Member Jill Barto toward [the 

Executive Coordinator] met the legal test of harassment and retaliation in violation of the 

Fair Employment and Housing Act, Government Code, section 12940.” (ECF No. 36-4 at 

57). The Confidential Investigation Report concluded that the conduct of Plaintiff toward 

the other two employees “did not meet the legal test for retaliation, but in each instance 

was a violation of Board By Law 9005.2” regarding civility and abusive conduct. (Id.). The 

Executive Coordinator “filed a government tort claim against CVUSD based upon the 

conduct of Trustee Barto[,] . . . [which] was eventually rejected by . . . the adjusting firm 

for CVUSD.” (ECF No. 36-2 ¶ 12).  

At a Board meeting on October 8, 2019, Plaintiff was the sole Trustee to vote against 

placing a General Obligation Bond Measure for $220 million on the March 2020 ballot. 

Plaintiff states in a Declaration that in November 2019, Defendant Miyashiro, 

“through his assistant,” cancelled Plaintiff’s registration for a conference. (ECF No. 44-4 

¶ 83). Plaintiff states that she had to “call[] [to] reverse[] their cancellation” and ultimately 

attended the conference. (Id.). Defendant Miyashiro states in a Declaration that Plaintiff 

was “told not to use her Cal Card following the ad hoc committee investigation” and “was 
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asked to request reimbursement rather than payment in advance” for conference fees and 

other expenses. (ECF No. 36-8 ¶ 37).  

Plaintiff states in a Declaration that in December 2019, “Defendants removed [her] 

from the agenda setting rotation when it was [her] turn” and “did not place [Plaintiff] back 

on the rotation for a punitive time.” (ECF No. 44-4 ¶ 52). Defendants deny that Plaintiff 

was removed from the agenda setting rotation.  

At a Board meeting on February 25, 2020, Plaintiff was the sole Trustee to vote 

against an addendum to Defendant Miyashiro’s employment agreement, “reflecting a 

salary effective July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 of $313,600 and effective July 1, 2020 to 

June 30, 2021 of $334,265.” (ECF No. 44-2 at 251).  

In March 2020, Plaintiff was one of several volunteers who attended a CVUSD food 

distribution event without signing up and without wearing a mask. On April 6, 2020, 

CVUSD legal counsel obtained a temporary restraining order (“TRO”) against Plaintiff, 

prohibiting her from attending CVUSD campuses for food-serving programs during the 

COVID-19 pandemic. On June 9, 2020, the Safety Coordinator for CVUSD called the El 

Cajon Police Department regarding the TRO when he saw Plaintiff attempting to enter a 

special Board meeting. A memorandum from the Safety Coordinator stated that the police 

determined that the TRO was expired, and Plaintiff was eventually allowed into the 

meeting. A second memorandum from the Safety Coordinator stated that on June 23, 2020, 

the Safety Coordinator spoke the El Cajon Police Department about the TRO and an 

upcoming Board meeting, and the police determined that they would not be getting 

involved or dispatching any officers. On July 29, 2020, the TRO was dissolved after a 

hearing. 

Plaintiff testified at her deposition that “the board with the direction of Dr. Miyashiro 

basically said . . . that [Plaintiff], not other board members, . . . must notify the 

superintendent and the board president and get permission [to visit schools in the district].” 

(ECF No. 36-4 at 122:7-15). Defendants state in their Declarations that all Trustees are 

expected to follow this rule, and the rule was put into place by the Board. Plaintiff testified 
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at her deposition that during remote meetings due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Defendant 

Otero silenced Plaintiff’s microphone “possibly two times, three times.” (ECF No. 36-4 at 

94:12). Plaintiff states in a Declaration that she has witnessed Defendants roll their eyes 

and mock Plaintiff when she “speak[s] about things that are disfavored to the Defendants’ 

agenda.” (ECF No. 44-4 ¶ 56). 

IV. LEGAL STANDARD 

“A party may move for summary judgment, identifying each claim or defense—or 

the part of each claim or defense—on which summary judgment is sought. The court shall 

grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any 

material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 

56(a). A material fact is one that is relevant to an element of a claim or defense and whose 

existence might affect the outcome of the suit. See Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith 

Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586-87 (1986). The materiality of a fact is determined by the 

substantive law governing the claim or defense. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 

U.S. 242, 248 (1986); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322-24 (1986). 

The moving party has the initial burden of demonstrating that summary judgment is 

proper. See Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144, 153 (1970). Where the party moving 

for summary judgment does not bear the burden of proof at trial, “the burden on the moving 

party may be discharged by ‘showing’—that is, pointing out to the district court—that there 

is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party’s case.” Celotex, 477 U.S. at 

325; see also United Steelworkers v. Phelps Dodge Corp., 865 F.2d 1539, 1542-43 (9th 

Cir. 1989) (“[O]n an issue where the plaintiff has the burden of proof, the defendant may 

move for summary judgment by pointing to the absence of facts to support the plaintiff’s 

claim. The defendant is not required to produce evidence showing the absence of a genuine 

issue of material fact with respect to an issue where the plaintiff has the burden of proof. 

Nor does Rule 56(c) require that the moving party support its motion with affidavits or 

other similar materials negating the nonmoving party’s claim.” (citations omitted)).  
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If the moving party meets the initial burden, the burden shifts to the opposing party 

to show that summary judgment is not appropriate. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 256; Celotex, 

477 U.S. at 322, 324. The nonmoving party cannot defeat summary judgment merely by 

demonstrating “that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts.” Matsushita, 

475 U.S. at 586; see Anderson, 477 U.S. at 252 (“The mere existence of a scintilla of 

evidence in support of the [nonmoving party’s] position will be insufficient.”). The 

nonmoving party must “go beyond the pleadings and by her own affidavits, or by the 

depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, designate specific facts 

showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.” Celotex, 477 U.S. at 324 (citations omitted). 

The nonmoving party’s evidence is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be 

drawn in its favor. See Anderson, 477 U.S. at 256. 

V. DISCUSSION 

The Eleventh Amendment of the United States Constitution “prevents a state and 

state government actors from being sued in federal court without the state’s consent.” 

Koala v. Khosla, 931 F.3d 887, 894 (9th Cir. 2019). A state official “sued in his official 

capacity has the same immunity as the state, and is entitled to [E]leventh [A]mendment 

immunity.” Pena v. Gardner, 976 F.2d 469, 473 (9th Cir. 1992) (citing Hafer v. Melo, 502 

U.S. 21, 25-26 (1991)). The Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit has concluded that 

California school districts are “arms of the state” entitled to sovereign immunity under the 

Eleventh Amendment, Sato v. Orange Cty. Dep’t of Educ., 861 F.3d 923, 934 (9th Cir. 

2017), and that the Eleventh Amendment bars suits against school district officials sued in 

their official capacities. See Cole v. Oroville High Sch., 228 F.3d 1092, 1100 n.4 (9th Cir. 

2000) (explaining that the district court correctly concluded that a superintendent, 

principal, and vice principal were immune from suit for damages in their official 

capacities); Eaglesmith v. Ward, 73 F.3d 857, 860 (9th Cir. 1996) (holding that the 

Mendocino County Superintendent of Schools sued in his official capacity was entitled to 

Eleventh Amendment immunity). In this case, Defendants are the Superintendent of 

CVUSD and four Trustees of CVUSD. Defendants are sued in their official capacities. 
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Defendants are immune from suit in this case pursuant to the Eleventh Amendment, absent 

an applicable exception.  

“Under the Ex parte Young doctrine, a plaintiff may maintain a suit for prospective 

relief against a state official in his official capacity, when that suit seeks to correct an 

ongoing violation of the Constitution or federal law.” Cardenas v. Anzai, 311 F.3d 929, 

934-35 (9th Cir. 2002) (emphasis omitted) (citing Ex Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123, 159-60 

(1908)). The Ex Parte Young exception to Eleventh Amendment immunity applies “where 

‘a plaintiff alleges an ongoing violation of federal law, and where the relief sought is 

prospective rather than retrospective.’” Doe v. Lawrence Livermore Nat’l Lab., 131 F.3d 

836, 839 (9th Cir. 1997) (quoting Idaho v. Coeur d’Alene Tribe, 521 U.S. 261, 294 (1997) 

(O’Connor, J., concurring)). “In determining whether the doctrine of Ex parte Young 

avoids an Eleventh Amendment bar to suit, a court need only conduct a ‘straightforward 

inquiry into whether [the] complaint alleges an ongoing violation of federal law and seeks 

relief properly characterized as prospective.” Verizon Md., Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n of 

Md., 535 U.S. 635, 645 (2002) (alteration in original) (quoting Coeur d’Alene Tribe, 521 

U.S. at 266). “[T]he inquiry into whether suit lies under Ex parte Young does not include 

an analysis of the merits of the claim.” Id.  

“A plaintiff may bring a Section 1983 claim alleging that public officials, acting in 

their official capacity, took action with the intent to retaliate against, obstruct, or chill the 

plaintiff’s First Amendment rights.” Ariz. Students’ Ass’n v. Ariz. Bd. of Regents, 824 F.3d 

858, 867 (9th Cir. 2016) (citing Gibson v. United States, 781 F.2d 1334, 1338). “[I]n an 

official-capacity action . . . under § 1983[,] . . . the [government] entity’s ‘policy or custom’ 

must have played a part in the violation of federal law.” Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 

159, 166 (1985) (quoting Polk County v. Dodson, 454 U.S. 312, 326 (1981); Monell v. 

Dep’t of Social Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 694 (1978)). A plaintiff bringing suit under § 1983 

can establish official-capacity liability in one of three ways: (1) by proving that an 

employee committed the alleged violation pursuant to a “formal policy or longstanding 

practice or custom that constitutes the standard operating procedure” of the government 
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entity; (2) by establishing that the individual who committed the violation was an “official 

with final policy-making authority and that the challenged action itself thus constituted an 

act of official governmental policy;” or (3) by proving that “an official with final policy-

making authority ratified a subordinate’s unconstitutional decision or action and the basis 

for it.” Gillette v. Delmore, 979 F.2d 1342, 1346-47 (9th Cir. 1992) (citations omitted). 

“Whether an official has final policymaking authority is a question for the court to 

decide based on state law.” Christie v. Iopa, 176 F.3d 1231, 1235 (9th Cir. 1999). To 

determine whether an official is a final policymaker, the court must “identify the particular 

area or issue for which the official is alleged to be the final policymaker.” Cortez v. County 

of Los Angeles, 294 F.3d 1186, 1189 (9th Cir. 2002). “The authority to exercise discretion 

while performing certain functions does not make the official a final policymaker unless 

the decisions are final, unreviewable, and not constrained by the official policies of 

superiors.” St. Louis v. Prapotnik, 485 U.S. 112, 126-28 (1988) (plurality opinion). “For a 

[school district official] to be a final policymaker, he or she must be in a position of 

authority such that a final decision by that person may appropriately be attributed to the 

District.” Lytle v. Carl, 382 F.3d 978, 983 (9th Cir. 2004).  

In this case, Plaintiff must prove that each Defendant was acting pursuant to a 

“formal policy or longstanding practice or custom” of CVUSD or had “final policy-making 

authority” over each action for which Plaintiff seeks relief to establish “an ongoing 

violation of federal law” under § 1983. Lawrence Livermore, 131 F.3d 836, 839; Gillette, 

979 F.2d at 1346-47. Plaintiff has sued four individual members of the CVUSD governing 

board in their official capacities: Defendant Otero, Defendant Miller, Defendant Alegria, 

and Defendant Clark-Mejia. The California Education Code provides that “[e]very school 

district shall be under the control of a board of school trustees or a board of education,” 

consisting of five elected members. Cal. Educ. Code § 35010(a). The governing board shall 

“prescribe and enforce rules . . . for its own government.” Id. § 35010(b). The governing 

board has power, including to “provide for the payment of the traveling expenses of any 

representatives of the board when performing services directed by the board, id. § 35044, 
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and to “[s]elect a member or members of the board to attend meetings of any society, 

association, or organization for which the school district has subscribed for membership, 

or any convention to which it may pay the expenses of any employee,” id. § 35172(f). The 

governing board shall “fix and prescribe the duties to be performed by all persons in public 

school service in the school district.” Id. § 35020. The governing board may delegate any 

of its powers or duties to an officer or employee of the district, but the governing board 

“retains ultimate responsibility over the performance of those powers or duties so 

delegated.” Id. § 35161. “The governing board shall act by majority vote of all of the 

membership constituting the governing board.” Id. § 35164. 

Plaintiff seeks permanent injunctive relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for a “campaign 

of harassment” by Defendants, consisting of Board policies, actions by individual 

Defendants, and statements by individual Defendants in retaliation for Plaintiff’s “public 

exposure of financial irregularities.” (ECF No. 44 at 33). Plaintiff seeks 

a permanent injunction restraining Defendants from prohibiting Plaintiff from 
speaking to her constituents; from participating in Board Meetings, both open 
and closed session, from participating in School District events; from using 
her Cal Card; from visiting District schools; from attending relevant 
conferences; from obtaining information requested to do her job; and to 
mandate that Plaintiff be notified of Board members events and issues to the 
same extent as other Board members. 

 
(ECF No. 1 at 12). Pursuant to California state law, the Board of Trustees is authorized to 

make policy on behalf of CVUSD by majority vote. See id. § 35164. The Board of Trustees 

is not a defendant in this action and would be immune from suit if it was. Plaintiff may not 

recover for actions taken by the Board in this official-capacity suit against individual Board 

members. There is no evidence that Defendant Otero, Defendant Miller, Defendant 

Alegria, or Defendant Clark-Mejia was acting pursuant to any formal policy or 

longstanding practice or custom of CVUSD in this case. Plaintiff has failed to come 

forward with evidence that any individual Board member was delegated final policymaking 

authority by the Board, or any other final policymaker, to authorize or prohibit Plaintiff 

Case 3:19-cv-02261-WQH-KSC   Document 55   Filed 10/08/21   PageID.2575   Page 13 of 17



 

14 

19-cv-2261-WQH-KSC 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

from “speaking to her constituents; from participating in Board Meetings[;] . . . from 

participating in School District events; from using her Cal Card; from visiting District 

schools; from attending relevant conferences; from obtaining information requested to do 

her job; [or] to . . . notif[y] [Plaintiff] of Board members events and issues.” (ECF No. 1 at 

12). The Court concludes that Plaintiff has failed to come forward with evidence of any 

action or statement by Defendant Otero, Defendant Miller, Defendant Alegria, or 

Defendant Clark-Mejia that constitutes an act of official CVUSD policy and an ongoing 

violation of federal law. See LaVerdure v. County of Montgomery, 324 F.3d 123, 125 (3d 

Cir. 2003) (“It is undisputed that only a majority of the three-member Board is authorized 

to establish policy on behalf of the County. Therefore, whatever the contents of Marino’s 

statements, because he was only one member of the Board, those comments do not 

constitute County policy.” (citation omitted)). The Motions for Summary Judgment filed 

by Defendant Otero, Defendant Miller, Defendant Alegria, and Defendant Clark-Mejia are 

granted.  

Plaintiff has further sued Defendant Miyashiro in his official capacity as 

Superintendent of CVUSD. In Lytle v. Carl, a teacher sued a school district and several 

administrators, including the superintendent and assistant superintendent, alleging that they 

retaliated against her because of an earlier action she brought, and won, against the school 

district. 382 F.3d 978, 980 (9th Cir. 2004). At trial, the school district moved for judgment 

as a matter of law, contending that the board of trustees was the only authorized 

policymaker, and the teacher failed to demonstrate any retaliatory action by the board. Id. 

at 981. The district court denied the motion, and the district appealed. The Court of Appeals 

for the Ninth Circuit affirmed the decision of the district court and held that the 

superintendent and assistant superintendent were final policymakers over employee 

discipline. Id. at 986. The court of appeals stated: 

In this case, the relevant area of policymaking is employment-related 
decisions, particularly employee discipline. . . . Nevada law designated the 
Board of Trustees for a School District as the body responsible for setting all 
District policies. . . . The Board of Trustees has the authority, as “reasonable 
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and necessary,” to delegate its statutory grant of authority to a delegee of its 
choice. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 386.350. . . .  

 
Id. at 983-84. The court concluded that the board of trustees “explicitly delegated full 

authority over employee discipline to the Superintendent and his delegee” by enacting 

District Policy 1213, which provided that employee discipline is a “right reserved to the 

superintendent and other administrators in accordance with the applicable negotiated 

agreements, law, board policies, and regulations.” Id. at 934. The court concluded that the 

plaintiff had presented evidence at trial that the superintendent delegated final 

policymaking authority to the assistant superintendent. Specifically, the evidence that the 

assistant superintendent’s formal job description stated that he was responsible for contract 

management and conducting grievance and conflict resolution, the assistant 

superintendent’s testimony that he was responsible for contract management and 

employment management relations, and the email from to the principal at the school where 

plaintiff worked instructing the principal to submit all disciplinary action regarding 

plaintiff to the assistant superintendent’s office was sufficient to demonstrate that the 

assistant superintendent had final policymaking authority. Id.  

 The California Education Code provides that the governing board “may employ a 

district superintendent . . . and may delegate to the district superintendent any of the duties 

provided for in Section 35250.” Cal. Educ. Code § 35026. Section 35250 provides that the 

governing board shall certify or attest to actions taken by the governing board as required, 

“[k]eep an accurate account of the receipts and expenditures of school moneys,” make an 

annual report, and maintain other records or reports as required by law. Id. § 35026. In 

addition to other duties, the superintendent shall “[b]e the chief executive officer of the 

governing board of the school district;” “prepare and submit a budget, . . . and revise and 

take other action in connection with the budget as the governing board of the school district 

may desire;” “[e]nter into contracts;” and “[s]ubmit financial and budgetary reports to the 

governing board.” Id. § 35035(a)-(i). 
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Plaintiff has alleged a “campaign of harassment,” which includes statements made 

by Defendant Miyashiro and actions taken by Defendant Miyashiro. (ECF No. 44 at 33). 

Plaintiff has failed to come forward with evidence that the Board of Trustees explicitly 

delegated final policymaking authority to the Superintendent to authorize or prohibit 

Plaintiff from “speaking to her constituents; from participating in Board Meetings[;] . . . 

from participating in School District events; from using her Cal Card; from visiting District 

schools; from attending relevant conferences; from obtaining information requested to do 

her job; [or] to . . . notif[y] [Plaintiff] of Board members events and issues.” (ECF No. 1 at 

12). Plaintiff has further failed to come forward with evidence that Defendant Miyashiro 

had final policymaking authority, in practice, over any issue on which Plaintiff seeks 

permanent injunctive relief. See Lytle, 382 F.3d at 982-83 (“A municipal employee may 

act as a de facto policymaker under § 1983 without explicit authority under state law, but 

[the court] is ordinarily not justified in assuming that municipal policymaking authority 

lies somewhere else than where the applicable law purports to put it. Depending on the 

circumstances, however, [courts] may look to the way a local government entity operates 

in practice.” (citations omitted)); see also Gillette, 979 F.2d at 1350 (holding that the fire 

chief did not have final policymaking authority over his discretionary firing decisions 

where the city charter granted authority to make employment policy to the city manager 

and the city council, and there was no evidence that the fire chief actually made policy). 

The Court concludes that Plaintiff has failed to come forward with evidence of any action 

or statement by Defendant Miyashiro that constitutes an act of official CVUSD policy and 

an ongoing violation of federal law. See Graham, 473 U.S. at 166 (“[I]n an official-capacity 

action . . . under § 1983[,] . . . the [government] entity’s policy or custom must have played 

a part in the violation of federal law.”). The Motion for Summary Judgment filed by 

Defendant Miyashiro is granted. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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VI. CONCLUSION 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Motions for Summary Judgment filed by 

Defendants David Miyashiro, James Miller, Jo Alegria, Tamara Otero, and Karen Clark-

Mejia (ECF Nos. 36-40) are granted.  The Clerk of the Court shall enter judgment in favor 

of Defendants and against Plaintiff. 

Dated:  October 7, 2021  
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